The Supreme Court of South Carolina

RE: Attorney Information System

ORDER

The South Carolina Judicial Department is currently developing an e-filing system
to allow the electronic filing of documents in the courts of this State. This system
will rely, in part, on the information already maintained by the Attorney
Information System (AIS), and lawyers will ultimately use their AIS user name
and password to access the web-based portal for e-filing. In preparation for e-
filing, it is necessary to make various security enhancements to AIS. This includes
requiring stronger passwords.

Accordingly, between the date of this order and December 15, 2013, every
member of the South Carolina Bar (including those holding limited certificates to
practice law), and every foreign legal consultant licensed under Rule 424 of the
South Carolina Appellate Court Rules (SCACR), must log-on to AIS
(www.sccourts.org/ais) and:

(1) Change their password to a stronger password meeting the
requirements specified in AIS. Once logged-on, the lawyer or consultant
will immediately be prompted to update their password and will be provided
with detailed information on the complexity required for that password.

(2) Choose and answer updated security questions. The lawyer or
consultant will be automatically prompted to provide this information once a
new password is entered.


www.sccourts.org/ais
www.sccourts.org/ais

(3) Update and verify their information in AlS, including their contact
information. Lawyers and consultants are reminded that the contact
information in AlS, including the required e-mail address, is the official
contact information for them. Rule 410(e), SCACR (*"The mailing and e-
mail address shown in the AIS shall be used for the purpose of notifying and
serving the member.").

Lawyers and foreign legal consultants who have not changed their password and
security questions, and verified their AIS information, will not be allowed to pay
their license fees for 2014 until they have done so. This may result in the lawyer
or consultant being suspended under Rule 419, SCACR.

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J.
s/ Costa M. Pleicones J.
s/ Donald W. Beatty J.
s/ John W. Kittredge J.
s/ Kaye G. Hearn J.

Columbia, South Carolina
November 4, 2013



OPINIONS

OF

THE SUPREME COURT

AND

COURT OF APPEALS

OF
SOUTH CAROLINA

ADVANCE SHEET NO. 47
November 6, 2013
Daniel E. Shearouse, Clerk

Columbia, South Carolina
WWW.SCCOUI‘tS.OI’g



http:www.sccourts.org
http:www.sccourts.org

CONTENTS

THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

PUBLISHED OPINIONS AND ORDERS

None
UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS AND ORDERS
None
PETITIONS - UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
27233 - Brad Keith Sigmon v. The State Pending
27252 - Town of Hollywood v. William Floyd Pending
PETITIONS FOR REHEARING

27317 - Ira Banks v. St. Matthew Baptist Church Pending
27320 - SCDSS v. Christopher Pringle Pending
27322 - The State v. Steven Barnes Pending

EXTENSION TO FILE PETITION — UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
27124 - The State v. Jennifer Rayanne Dykes Granted until 12/21/2013



The South Carolina Court of Appeals

PUBLISHED OPINIONS

5182-The State v. James Lamarcus Page

17

UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS

2013-UP-405-State v. Kurt Kalani Sparks
(Newberry, Judge Edward W. Miller)

2013-UP-406-Harold Simmons, Jr. v. Charleston County Family Court et al.

(Charleston, Judge Roger M. Young)

2013-UP-407-State v. Willie Prince
(Marlboro, Judge Steven H. John)

2013-UP-408-State v. Walter Goodine
(Oconee, Judge R. Lawton Mclntosh)

2013-UP-409-State v. Andrew Davion Burnside
(Greenville, Judge C. Victor Pyle, Jr.)

2013-UP-410-State v. Corey Gethers
(Charleston, Judge Deadra L. Jefferson)

2013-UP-411-State of South Carolina v. Robin Cardneas et al.
(Dorchester, Judge Diane Schafer Goodstein)

2013-UP-412-State v. Ronald Grooms
(Aiken, Judge Doyet A. Early, III)

2013-UP-413-State v. Norman Adger Bragg
(Spartanburg, Judge J. Derham Cole)

2013-UP-414-IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB v. Henry Abel Pol, et al.
(York, Judge S. Jackson Kimball, 111, Master-in-Equity)

2013-UP-415-State v. Toddrique D. Henderson
(Florence, Judge Michael G. Nettles)




PETITIONS FOR REHEARING

5131-Lauren Proctor v. Whitlark & Whitlark

5165-Bonnie L. McKinney f/k/a Bonnie L. Pedery v. Frank Pedery
5167-State v. Thomas Michael Smith

5171-Carolyn Nicholson v. SCDSS

5176-Richard A. Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC
5177-State v. Leo David Lemire

2013-UP-189-Thomas Torrence v. SCDC

2013-UP-209-State v. Michael Avery Humphrey
2013-UP-296-Parsons v. John Wieland Homes
2013-UP-303-William Jeff Weekley v. John Lance Weekley, Jr.
2013-UP-340-Randy Griswold v. Kathryn Griswold
2013-UP-358-Marion L. Driggers v. Daniel Shearouse

2013-UP-393-State v. Robert Mondriques Jones

Pending
Denied

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending

PETITIONS-SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT

4750-Cullen v. McNeal
4764-Walterboro Hospital v. Meacher
4779-AJG Holdings v. Dunn
4832-Crystal Pines v. Phillips
4851-Davis v. KB Home of S.C.
4872-State v. Kenneth Morris

4888-Pope v. Heritage Communities

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending

10/30/13



4895-King v. International Knife Pending

4898-Purser v. Owens Pending
4909-North American Rescue v. Richardson Pending
4923-Price v. Peachtree Electrical Pending
4926-Dinkins v. Lowe's Home Centers Pending
4934-State v. Rodney Galimore Pending

4947-Ferguson Fire and Fabrication v. Preferred Fire Protection Pending

4956-State v. Diamon D. Fripp Pending
4960-Justin O'Toole Lucey et al. v. Amy Meyer Pending
4964-State v. Alfred Adams Pending
4970-Carolina Convenience Stores et al. v. City of Spartanburg Pending
4973-Byrd v. Livingston Pending
4975-Greeneagle Inc. v. SCDHEC Pending
4979-Major v. City of Hartsville Pending
4982-Katie Green Buist v. Michael Scott Buist Pending
4992-Gregory Ford v. Beaufort County Assessor Pending
4995-Keeter v. Alpine Towers International and Sexton Pending
4997-Allegro v. Emmett J. Scully Pending
5001-State v. Alonzo Craig Hawes Pending
5008-Willie H. Stephens v. CSX Transportation Pending
5010-S.C. Dep't of Transportation v. Janell P. Revels et al. Pending



5011-SCDHEC v. Ann Dreher

5013-Geneva Watson v. Xtra Mile Driver Training

5016-The S.C. Public Interest Foundation v. Greenville Cty. et al.

5017-State v. Christopher Manning

5019-John Christopher Johnson v. Reginald C. Lloyd et al.
5020-Ricky Rhame v. Charleston Cty. School District
5022-Gregory Collins v. Seko Charlotte and Nationwide Mutual
5025-State v. Randy Vickery

5031-State v. Demetrius Price

5032-LeAndra Lewis v. L.B. Dynasty

5033-State v. Derrick McDonald

5034-State v. Richard Bill Niles, Jr.

5035-David R. Martin and Patricia F. Martin v. Ann P. Bay et al.
5041-Carolina First Bank v. BADD

5044-State v. Gene Howard Vinson

5052-State v. Michael Donahue

5053-State v. Thomas E. Gilliland

5055-Hazel Rivera v. Warren Newton

5059-Kellie N. Burnette v. City of Greenville et al.

5060-State v. Larry Bradley Brayboy

5061-William Walde v. Association Ins. Co.

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



5062-Duke Energy v. SCDHEC

5065-Curiel v. Hampton Co. EMS

5071-State v. Christopher Broadnax
5072-Michael Cunningham v. Anderson County
5074-Kevin Baugh v. Columbia Heart Clinic
5077-Kirby L. Bishop et al. v. City of Columbia
5078-Estate of Livingston v. Clyde Livingston
5081-The Spriggs Group, P.C. v. Gene R. Slivka
5082-Thomas Brown v. Peoplease Corp.
5084-State v. Kendrick Taylor

5087-Willie Simmons v. SC Strong and Hartford
5090-Independence National v. Buncombe Professional
5092-Mark Edward Vail v. State

5093-Diane Bass v. SCDSS

5095-Town of Arcadia Lakes v. SCDHEC
5097-State v. Francis Larmand

5099-Roosevelt Simmons v. Berkeley Electric
5101-James Judy v. Ronnie Judy

5110-State v. Roger Bruce

5111-State v. Alonza Dennis

5112-Roger Walker v. Catherine Brooks

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



5113-Regions Bank v. Williams Owens
5116-Charles A. Hawkins v. Angela D. Hawkins
5117-Loida Colonna v. Marlboro Park (2)
5118-Gregory Smith v. D.R. Horton

5119-State v. Brian Spears

5121-State v. Jo Pradubsri

5122-Ammie McNeil v. SCDC

5125-State v. Anthony Marquese Martin

5126-A. Chakrabarti v. City of Orangeburg
5130-Brian Pulliam v. Travelers Indemnity
5132-State v. Richard Brandon Lewis
5135-Microclean Tec. Inc. v. Envirofix, Inc.
5137-Ritter and Associates v. Buchanan Volkswagen
5139-H&H Johnson, LLC v. Old Republic National Title
5140-Bank of America v. Todd Draper

5144-Emma Hamilton v.Martin Color Fi

5148-State v. Henry Jermaine Dukes

5151-Daisy Simpson v. William Simpson

5152-Effie Turpin v. E. Lowther

5157-State v. Lexie Dial

5159-State v. Gregg Henkel

10

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



5160-State v. Ashley Eugene Moore

5161-State v. Lance Williams
2011-UP-052-Williamson v. Orangeburg
2011-UP-108-Dippel v. Horry County
2011-UP-109-Dippel v. Fowler
2011-UP-400-McKinnedy v. SCDC
2011-UP-495-State v. Arthur Rivers
2011-UP-502-Heath Hill v. SCDHEC and SCE&G
2011-UP-562-State v. Tarus Henry
2012-UP-030-Babaee v. Moisture Warranty Corp.
2012-UP-058-State v. Andra Byron Jamison
2012-UP-078-Seyed Tahaei v. Sherri Tahaei
2012-UP-081-Hueble v. Vaughn
2012-UP-134-Richard Cohen v. Dianne Crowley
2012-UP-152-State v. Kevin Shane Epting
2012-UP-153-McCall v. Sandvik, Inc.
2012-UP-203-State v. Dominic Leggette
2012-UP-218-State v. Adrian Eaglin
2012-UP-219-Dale Hill et al. v. Deertrack Golf and Country Club

2012-UP-267-State v. James Craig White

11

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



2012-UP-270-National Grange Ins. Co. v. Phoenix Contract Pending
Glass, LLC, et al.

2012-UP-274-Passaloukas v. Bensch Pending
2012-UP-276-Regions Bank v. Stonebridge Development et al. Pending
2012-UP-278-State v. Hazard Cameron Pending
2012-UP-285-State v. Jacob M. Breda Pending
2012-UP-286-Diane K. Rainwater v. Fred A. Rainwater Pending
2012-UP-292-Demetrius Ladson v. Harvest Hope Pending
2012-UP-295-Larry Edward Hendricks v. SCDC Pending
2012-UP-293-Clegg v. Lambrecht Pending
2012-UP-302-Maple v. Heritage Healthcare Pending
2012-UP-312-State v. Edward Twyman Pending
2012-UP-314-Grand Bees Development v. SCDHEC et al. Pending
2012-UP-321-James Tinsley v. State Pending
2012-UP-330-State v. Doyle Marion Garrett Pending
2012-UP-332-George Tomlin v. SCDPPPS Pending
2012-UP-348-State v. Jack Harrison, Jr. Pending
2012-UP-351-State v. Kevin J. Gilliard Pending
2012-UP-365-Patricia E. King v. Margie B. King Pending
2012-UP-404-McDonnell and Assoc v. First Citizens Bank Pending
2012-UP-432-State v. Bryant Kinloch Pending

12



2012-UP-433-Jeffrey D. Allen v. S.C. Budget and Control Bd.

Employee Insurance Plan et al.
2012-UP-460-Figueroa v. CBI/Columbia Place Mall et al.
2012-UP-462-J. Tennant v. Board of Zoning Appeals
2012-UP-479-Elkachbendi v. Elkachbendi
2012-UP-502-Hurst v. Board of Dentistry
2012-UP-552-Virginia A. Miles v. Waffle House
2012-UP-561-State v. Joseph Lathan Kelly
2012-UP-563-State v. Marion Bonds
2012-UP-569-Vennie Taylor Hudson v. Caregivers of SC
2012-UP-573-State v. Kenneth S. Williams
2012-UP-576-State v. Trevee J. Gethers
2012-UP-577-State v. Marcus Addison
2012-UP-579-Andrea Beth Campbell v. Ronnie A. Brockway
2012-UP-580-State v. Kendrick Dennis
2012-UP-585-State v. Rushan Counts
2012-UP-600-Karen Irby v. Augusta Lawson
2012-UP-603-Fidelity Bank v. Cox Investment Group et al.
2012-UP-608-SunTrust Mortgage v. Ostendorff
2012-UP-616-State v. Jamel Dwayne Good
2012-UP-623-L. Paul Trask, Jr., v. S.C. Dep't of Public Safety

2012-UP-647-State v. Danny Ryant

13

Pending

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



2012-UP-654-State v. Marion Stewart
2012-UP-658-Palmetto Citizens v. Butch Johnson
2012-UP-663-Carlton Cantrell v. Aiken County
2012-UP-674-SCDSS v. Devin B.
2013-UP-007-Hoang Berry v. Stokes Import
2013-UP-010-Neshen Mitchell v. Juan Marruffo

2013-UP-014-Keller v. ING Financial Partners

2013-UP-015-Travelers Property Casualty Co. v. Senn Freight

2013-UP-020-State v. Jason Ray Franks
2013-UP-034-Cark D. Thomas v. Bolus & Bolus
2013-UP-037-Cary Graham v. Malcolm Babb
2013-UP-056-Lippincott v. SCDEW
2013-UP-058-State v. Bobby J. Barton
2013-UP-062-State v. Christopher Stephens
2013-UP-063-State v. Jimmy Lee Sessions
2013-UP-066-Dudley Carpenter v. Charles Measter
2013-UP-069-1. Lehr Brisbin v. Aiken Electric Coop.
2013-UP-070-Loretta Springs v. Clemson University
2013-UP-071-Maria McGaha v. Honeywell International
2013-UP-078-Leon P. Butler, Jr. v. William L. Wilson

2013-UP-081-Ruth Sturkie LeClair v. Palmetto Health

14

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



2013-UP-082-Roosevelt Simmons v. Hattie Bailum Pending

2013-UP-084-Denise Bowen v. State Farm Pending
2013-UP-085-Brenda Peterson v. Hughie Peterson Pending
2013-UP-090-JP Morgan Chase Bank v. Vanessa Bradley Pending

2013-UP-095-Midlands Math v. Richland County School Dt. 1 Pending

2013-UP-110-State v. Demetrius Goodwin Pending
2013-UP-115-SCDSS v. Joy J. Pending
2013-UP-120-Jerome Wagner v. Robin Wagner Pending
2013-UP-125-Caroline LeGrande v. SCE&G Pending
2013-UP-127-Osmanski v. Watkins & Shepard Trucking Pending
2013-UP-133-James Dator v. State Pending
2013-UP-147-State v. Anthony Hackshaw Pending
2013-UP-154-State v. Eugene D. Patterson Pending
2013-UP-158-CitiFinancial v. Squire Pending
2013-UP-162-Martha Lynne Angradi v. Edgar Jack Lail, et al. Pending
2013-UP-183-R. Russell v. DHEC and State Accident Fund Pending
2013-UP-188-State v. Jeffrey A. Michaelson Pending
2013-UP-199-Wheeler Tillman v. Samuel Tillman Pending
2013-UP-206-Adam Hill v. Henrietta Norman Pending
2013-UP-218-Julian Ford Jr. v. SCDC Pending
2013-UP-224-Katheryna Mulholland-Mertz v. Corie Crest Pending

15



2013-UP-232-Theresa Brown v. Janet Butcher
2013-UP-236-State v. Timothy E. Young

2013-UP-241-Shirley Johnson v. Angela Lampley

2013-UP-247-Joseph N. Grate v. Waccamaw E. O. C. Inc.

2013-UP-251-Betty Jo Floyd v. Ken Baker Used Cars
2013-UP-257-Matter of Henson (Woods) v. Breakfield
2013-UP-267-State v. William Sosebee
2013-UP-279-MRR Sandhills v, Marlboro County
2013-UP-288-State v. Brittany Johnson
2013-UP-290-Mary Ruff v. Samuel Nunez
2013-UP-294-State v. Jason Thomas Husted
2013-UP-297-Greene Homeowners v. W.G.R.Q.
2013-UP-310-Westside Meshekoff Family v. SCDOT
2013-UP-322-A.M. Kelly Grove v. SCDHEC
2013-UP-323-In the interest of Brandon M.
2013-UP-326-State v. Gregory Wright

2013-UP-327-Roper LLC v. Harris Teeter

16

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

Pending



THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,
V.

James Lamarcus Page, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2012-208632

Appeal From York County
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5182
Heard September 11, 2013 — Filed November 6, 2013

REVERSED AND REMANDED

Breen Richard Stevens, of Orangeburg, and Appellate
Defender Benjamin John Tripp, of Columbia, for
Appellant.

Attorney General Alan McCrory Wilson and Assistant
Attorney General Jennifer Ellis Roberts, both of
Columbia, for Respondent.

GEATHERS, J.: This appeal follows the conviction of James Lamarcus Page
(Appellant) for kidnapping, second degree criminal sexual conduct, second degree
assault and battery, and possession of a knife during the commission of a violent
crime. Appellant argues the trial court erred by (1) denying a motion to join his
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trial with that of his alleged accomplice, and (2) finding a witness's proffered
testimony was not relevant and, as a result, not allowing Appellant to call that
witness as part of his case-in-chief. Although the trial court did not err in denying
joinder, the trial court did err in finding the witness's proffered testimony was not
relevant and, in turn, not allowing Appellant to call that witness. Hence, we
reverse and remand for retrial.

FACTS

Victim 1 and Victim 2 (collectively Victims) alleged Appellant and Appellant's
brother, Lentavis Baxter, sexually assaulted them within the apartment of Victim 1.
Notably, the Victims' version of events contrasts greatly with that of Appellant.

According to the Victims,' on the evening of September 22, 2010, they
encountered Appellant and Baxter. Victim 1 alleged that after she returned to her
apartment following a quick run to the store with Victim 2, she entered her
apartment and left the front door ajar, as Victim 2 was retrieving a bag from the
car. When Victim 2 entered the apartment, two males, one "large" and one
"skinny," appeared from behind Victim 2 and followed her inside. When the dog
of Victim 1 began barking, the "skinny" male yelled, "Get your dog, or I'm going
to kill it." Victim 1 quickly placed the dog in a bedroom and turned on a television
to keep the dog from continuing to bark.

After Victim 1 tended to the dog, the "skinny" male brandished a knife, took
Victim 1 to the bathroom, faced her toward the mirror, choked her, and stated "this
wasn't no f'ing joke." The "skinny" male repeatedly placed the knife near the
throat of Victim 1 and then dragged Victim 1 out of the bathroom. As she was
being dragged, Victim 1 could see the "large" male picking Victim 2 up by her
neck; Victim 2 was no longer fully clothed—she wore only a shirt and underwear.

When Victim 2 began to fight back against the "large" male, the "skinny" male
again placed his knife upon the throat of Victim 1 and ordered her to instruct
Victim 2 to stop kicking. When Victim 2 continued to fight, the "skinny" male
struck Victim 2 in the mouth, causing blood to "start pouring" out. Because the
"bleeding was so bad," all four individuals proceeded to the bathroom to clean
Victim 2's injuries; her nose and a cheekbone were broken, and her lip was split.

' This depiction of the facts is based upon the collective testimony of the Victims.
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The "large" male then removed Victim 2 back to the living room, and the "skinny"
male forced Victim 1 into a small bedroom that lacked a bed. Upon entering the
small bedroom, the "skinny" male instructed Victim 1 to prepare a bed on the floor.
Although Victim 1 claimed she did not want to have sex with the "skinny" male,
she told him that he did not have to hurt her because she "would do anything he
wanted." While the knife sat alongside the makeshift bed, the "skinny" male
engaged in sexual intercourse and oral sex with Victim 1. The "skinny" male also
forced Victim 1 to smoke a presumably illicit drug. Throughout this encounter,
Victim 1 could hear Victim 2 "hollering" from the other room.

When Victim 1 and the "skinny" man later emerged from the small bedroom,
Victim 1 observed the "large" male engaged in sexual intercourse with Victim 2.
The "large" male then demanded Victim 1 perform oral sex on him. Victim 1
responded, "No," turned back toward the "skinny" guy and pleaded, "don't make
me, [ want to be with you;" as Victim 1 would later explain, she "wanted" to be
with the "skinny" male because the other was "so enormous," as the record
suggests Appellant was overweight. Undeterred, the two males made Victim 1 and
Victim 2 enter the small bedroom and further sexually assaulted them. This time,
however, the two males switched Victims.

Early the next morning, Victim 1 resourcefully provided the "skinny" male with a
drink for him to give to the other male. With both the "large" and "skinny" males
distracted, Victim 1 sneaked over to the front door, disengaged the locks, and ran
naked across the street to a neighbor's house. Victim 1 then used a phone at that
location to dial 911, and the police arrived shortly thereafter. The "skinny" male
was subsequently identified as Baxter and the "large" male as Appellant.

The following day, Appellant turned himself in; Baxter was arrested later. While
in custody, Appellant acknowledged his Miranda rights, waived them, indicated

that he could read and write, and provided his version of the encounter through a
signed statement.

Appellant's version of events stands in stark contrast to that of Victims 1 and 2.
According to Appellant's signed statement, he and Baxter were driving to a
relative's apartment. Outside of the entrance to the apartment complex, two
females motioned for them to stop. The females indicated they had recently been
partying with two other men, smoking crack cocaine, and ingesting other drugs.
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The females asked Baxter if he had any crack, and Baxter replied he would provide
some. In response, the females indicated their intent to make a quick run to the
store before meeting Appellant and Baxter back at a nearby apartment.

Upon arriving at that apartment, Baxter and Appellant were invited inside; Baxter
went in first. Appellant conceded that, upon entering the apartment, he observed
Baxter holding a knife and placing an arm around the neck of one of the women.
Despite this precarious circumstance, Appellant contended the other female then
asked him for sex, but he declined because he would not cheat on his girlfriend.
Thereafter, one of the women mentioned the recent death of the brother of
Appellant and Baxter, and that his death was deserved because it occurred during a
failed robbery attempt. Baxter responded by punching her. Nonetheless, that
female later started kissing Appellant and they engaged in consensual sexual
intercourse on the floor. Thereafter, Appellant and Baxter switched partners and
again engaged in sexual intercourse with the women.

The next morning, one of the women asked Baxter for the promised crack. When
Baxter admitted to her that he did not have any, she ran outside, yelling "rape."
The next day, Appellant was arrested.

Prior to Appellant's bond hearing, Marsh Curtice, an on-again-off-again boyfriend
of Victim 1, left Victim 1 a voicemail:

[Victim 1], you have no right to call the law on me for
something [ haven't done. I didn't touch your car — didn't
touch you — some [inaudible] got spilled [inaudible]. But
you have no right to make up this sh[**] to try to get me
in trouble. So in recourse, I go back and tell the police
what you told me the last three weeks about your case —
and I mean that's the word on the street anyway — that
you guys invited them in to smoke crack, smoke crack,
trade sex all night and then got mad at y'all selves in the
morning. So if something comes from this, I will contact
the defense attorneys, and the solicitor, and public
defender offices, and tell my story. And that will put a
lot of doubt in a lot of people's minds. You know, and
that's going by what you told me. TI'll tell the truth.
You're making up sh[**]. I didn't touch you; I didn't
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touch your car. So if you're gonna cause me trouble for
something I didn't do, I'm gonna cause you trouble for
something you did do.

Despite the fact that the voicemail explicitly referred to potentially exculpatory
statements that Curtice claimed "[Victim 1] told [him] the last three weeks about
[the] case," Curtice would later explain to law enforcement that, "Whatever I said
in that voicemail wasn't based on any facts whatsoever. There was a spat between
[Victim 1] and I. The voicemail was completely made up. There's no basis of
facts in the voicemail whatsoever." Curtice even insisted he "never discussed
[with Victim 1] what happened" and that he was previously unaware of the fact
that Appellant and Baxter's account of the incident involved the exchange of sex
for drugs, a version of events closely paralleling the substance of Curtice's
voicemail. Thus, according to Curtice, any similarity between his "fabricat[ed]"
voicemail and Appellant's version of the incident was simply a "lucky guess."
Curtice also provided a statement explaining his prior alleged fabrication.

A few months later, in January and February of 2011, a York County grand jury
indicted Appellant and Baxter for their alleged criminal acts toward the Victims.
Appellant was charged with one count of first degree burglary, two counts of first
degree criminal sexual conduct, two counts of kidnapping, two counts of first
degree assault and battery, and four counts of possession of a knife during the
commission of a violent crime.

Prior to trial, the State sought to prosecute Appellant and Baxter separately. In
response, Baxter's attorney, with the consent of Appellant, filed a motion for
joinder. The trial court held a hearing on the matter; Baxter's attorney argued the
cases should be tried together in light of judicial economy, and that prejudice
would result if the two cases were tried separately. More specifically, Baxter's
attorney referenced the factual complexity of the matter, the sheer number of
witnesses, that "all the players are exactly the same, [and] all the testimony [that]
will be relevant to one [case] would be relevant to the other," and that if the cases
were tried separately, the brother tried second may be subject to cross examination
twice and, in anticipation of this potential disadvantage, choose not to testify at the
earlier trial, despite the fact that he could be a key witness. While Baxter's attorney
recognized the Solicitor's "right to control the docket," he maintained that there are
"many occasions where that [right] has to be curtailed." Appellant's attorney
concurred, stating "it's to [Appellant's] advantage to have a joint trial."
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The trial judge denied the motion for joinder, citing the Solicitor's ability to call
cases so as to "facilitate the efficient administration of h[er] official duties." The
trial judge opined that even if trial courts have a discretionary and supervisory role
in this regard, he would "exercise that discretion and not allow the joining."

Additionally, at this pre-trial hearing, the trial court heard a proffer of Curtice's
testimony to determine whether the Solicitor should be disqualified because she
personally took Curtice's statement. Because the purpose of this proffer was
limited to determining whether the Solicitor was disqualified, the trial judge did
not address the admissibility of Curtice's testimony; the voicemail, however, was
published to the court. After Curtice finished testifying, the Solicitor testified
about the circumstances surrounding the taking of Curtice's statement.” The trial
court subsequently declined to excuse the Solicitor and, in turn, a jury was struck
and Appellant's trial commenced.

After numerous witnesses testified, Appellant sought to call Curtice as a witness.
Appellant argued that the case was based upon credibility, i.e., the Victims' story
was completely at odds with Appellant's version of events and that Curtice's
testimony also demonstrated Victim 1 made inconsistent statements and, thus,
Victim 1 was not a truthful witness. Specifically, defense counsel referenced the
fact that Victim 1 denied talking to Curtice about what happened, and that it would
be inconceivable that somebody who did not talk to Victim 1 could "make a guess
out of thin air and leave a voicemail" that directly comported with Appellant's
account. The State objected on relevancy grounds, arguing Curtice would "simply
interject into the proceeding something that he denies hearing from the victim."
The State further contended that if Curtice's testimony showed anything, it would
be that Curtice lied. Thus, according to the State, Curtice could not testify about
what he had previously said Victim 1 told him because he more recently claimed
that he had not heard anything about the case from Victim 1. The trial court,
agreeing with the State, then stated:

[W]e don't [try] people . . . on what some people, counsel
or anybody else, have a hard time believing. We['ve] got
to stick to the rules. So I find that there is no relevancy,

2 Notably, the Solicitor conceded the contents of the voicemail, if true, would be
exculpatory.
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not a scintilla of relevancy in Mr. Curtice's testimony and
I therefore sustain the objection and [will] not allow him
to testify.

After the jury heard the remaining testimony and closing arguments, the jury
convicted Appellant of kidnapping, second degree criminal sexual conduct, second
degree assault and battery, and possession of a knife during the commission of a
violent crime. The trial court sentenced Appellant to thirty years of incarceration.

ISSUES ON APPEAL
1.  Did the trial court err by denying joinder?

2. Did the trial court err by finding Curtice's testimony was not relevant and,
as a result, denying Appellant's request to call Curtice as a witness?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound
by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous. State v. Halcomb,
382 S.C. 432, 438-39, 676 S.E.2d 149, 152 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, the role of the
appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its
discretion. Id. at 438, 676 S.E.2d at 152. "An abuse of discretion arises from an
error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." State v.
Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 334, 665 S.E.2d 201, 204 (Ct. App. 2008).

l. Joinder

The essence of Appellant's first contention is the trial court abused its discretion in
denying joinder of Appellant's trial with that of Baxter because (1) a just and
proper consideration of the particular circumstances required a joint trial, and (2)
the trial court's reliance upon the Solicitor's control of the docket was, in light of
State v. Langford,’ erroneous as a matter of law.

3400 S.C. 421, 436, 735 S.E.2d 471, 479 (2012) (holding a statute vesting the
solicitor with exclusive authority to determine the "order" in which cases are called
unconstitutional).
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A. Preservation

At the pre-trial hearing, the Solicitor requested the trial court to first take up the
motion for joinder; Baxter's attorney filed this motion and served it upon Appellant
and the Solicitor. The trial judge requested Baxter's attorney to hand up a copy
and, upon receiving it, stated, "This says it[']s kind of a joint motion, but |
understand it's really a motion on behalf of Mr. Baxter with consent of
[Appellant]." Appellant's counsel responded, "That's correct, Your Honor." After
Baxter's counsel further argued in support of the motion, the trial judge asked
Appellant's counsel if he had anything further to add; Appellant's attorney
concurred with Baxter's attorney, stating it was "to [Appellant's] advantage to have
a joint trial."

The State argues this issue is not preserved for appeal because an "appellant may
not use the objection of another defendant to gain review." See State v. Nichols,
325S.C. 111, 123,481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997); accord State v. Carriker, 269 S.C.
553, 555,238 S.E.2d 678, 678 (1977). While Nichols and Carriker do stand for
the stated proposition, and the motion at issue was filed on Baxter's behalf, albeit
with the consent of Appellant, Nichols and Carriker are not directly on point. In
Carriker, the appellant did not object at trial to the matter he later appealed. 269
S.C. at 555, 238 S.E.2d at 678. Similarly, in Nichols, an issue was not preserved
for appeal because the appellant failed to object during trial or join in his co-
defendant's objections. 325 S.C. at 123, 481 S.E.2d at 124. Here, although the trial
judge determined, and Appellant agreed, that the motion was filed on behalf of
Baxter with Appellant's consent, the trial judge also noted that the motion itself
indicated it was a "joint motion." Furthermore, the trial judge understood the
motion involved Appellant; the trial judge directly asked Appellant's counsel if he
would like to add anything to what Baxter's counsel had already argued in support
of the motion, to which Appellant's counsel responded, "it's to [Appellant's]
advantage to have a joint trial." In recognition of these facts, Appellant sufficiently
raised the issue at trial and preserved the issue for review.

B. Merits

Because the issue is preserved for review, we now consider whether the trial judge
abused his discretion in denying joinder because (1) the particular circumstances of
the case required a joint trial, and (2) the trial court's reliance upon the Solicitor's
control of the docket was, in light of Langford, erroneous as a matter of law.
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1. The Particular Circumstances of the Case Did Not Require a Joint Trial.

Although the solicitor no longer has exclusive authority to determine the order in
which cases are called, the solicitor retains "discretion in choosing how to proceed
with a case." Compare Langford, 400 S.C. at 436, 735 S.E.2d at 479 (holding a
statute vesting the solicitor with exclusive authority to determine the "order" of
cases is unconstitutional) with, id. at 435 n.6, 735 S.E.2d at 479 n.6 (stating the
solicitor's discretion in choosing how to "proceed" with a case, including how to
prosecute it, remains unaffected by this case). Further, this prosecutorial discretion
to decide "how to prosecute a case" remains subject to the broad supervision of the
trial judge. Langford, 400 S.C. at 448, 735 S.E.2d at 485. Accordingly, even
where a solicitor determines that a joint trial or, alternatively, separate trials of
criminal co-defendants would best facilitate the efficient administration of her
prosecutorial duties, a trial court may still, in its sound discretion, grant severance
or order joinder, respectively, to protect a defendant's right to a fair trial. See
Halcomb, 382 S.C. at 439, 676 S.E.2d at 152-53 (stating a decision on whether to
grant or deny a motion for severance is subject to a trial court's sound discretion).
Thus, a trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion opposing the solicitor's
election of either joint or separate trials will not be disturbed on appeal absent an
abuse of the trial court's discretion. Cf. id. at 439, 676 S.E.2d at 153 (stating a trial
court's decision to deny a motion for severance will not be disturbed absent an
abuse of discretion). Further, when the trial judge bases this determination "upon a
just and proper consideration of the particular circumstances which are presented

to the court in each case," an abuse of discretion does not result. Id. at 440, 676
S.E.2d at 153.

In the instant matter, the Solicitor argued separate trials would best facilitate the
efficient administration of prosecutorial duties because: (1) it would allow the State
to best present each case; (2) additional, very incriminating evidence could come
into play against Baxter, but which would be inadmissible against Appellant; and
(3) Bruton® issues existed. Baxter's attorney argued joinder was appropriate in the
interest of judicial economy and, most importantly, to reduce prejudice. He cited
the factual complexity of the matter and the number of witnesses, and argued: (1)
"all the players are exactly the same;" (2) the testimony relevant to one case would
also be relevant to the other; (3) if the cases were tried separately, one brother, i.e.,

* Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).
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a key witness, may not testify at the earlier trial in an attempt to avoid two cross-
examinations;’ and (4) Bruton concessions were possible.

The trial judge determined that while the authority of a solicitor to "facilitate the
efficient administration of [the office's] duties" is subject to the trial court's
supervision, Appellant did not present sufficient "legal cause to grant" joinder and
to "[a]ffect the facility and the strategy . . . of the solicitor." Because the trial judge
based his decision to deny joinder upon a just and proper consideration of the
issues at hand, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying joinder. See
Halcomb, 382 S.C. at 440, 676 S.E.2d at 153 (stating an abuse of discretion does
not occur when the trial judge bases his determination upon a just and proper
consideration of a case's circumstances).

2. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Considering the Solicitor's Authority To
Determine the Manner In Which the Solicitor Proceeds With a Case's
Prosecution.

Appellant also argues that the trial court's reliance upon the solicitor's control of
the docket was, in retrospect, erroneous as a matter of law due to the subsequent
decision by our supreme court in Langford.® We disagree. First, the trial court did
not specifically rely upon the solicitor's then-existing ability to control the order of
how cases are called in denying joinder. Rather, the trial court explicitly
referenced the solicitor's right to "call cases in such a manner" as to "facilitate the
efficient administration of h[er] official duties." Notably, prior to Langford, the
"solicitor ha[d] the authority to call cases in such order and in such manner as will
facilitate the efficient administration of [the solicitor's] official duties." State v.
Mikell, 257 S.C. 315, 322, 185 S.E.2d 814, 816-17 (1971) (recognizing the
solicitor's authority to determine both the order and the manner in which cases are
called) (emphases added). While a solicitor can no longer determine the "order" in
which cases are called, Langford makes clear that a solicitor's authority to
determine how a solicitor "proceed[s]" with any particular case, i.€., the manner,
remains permissible. See Langford, 400 S.C. at 435 n.6, 735 S.E.2d at 479 n.6
(stating, "[u]ndoubtedly, the solicitor has discretion in choosing how to proceed
with a case," and such decisions "are prerogatives of the solicitor . . . and are
unaffected by our decision"). Thus, the trial court did not err in considering the

> Baxter did not testify at Appellant's trial.
¢ Langford was decided in November 2012, ten months after Appellant's trial.

26



solicitor's authority to determine the manner in which the solicitor proceeds with a
case's prosecution. Halcomb, 382 S.C. at 439, 676 S.E.2d at 153.

Il.  The Right to Offer Relevant Witness Testimony

Appellant next argues the trial court erred in finding Curtice's testimony would not
be relevant and, as result, by denying Appellant the right to call this witness in his
case-in-chief. Appellant sought to introduce this testimony to further his theory of
the case, i.e., that the sexual encounter was consensual, that the Victims'
allegations were in retaliation for Appellant and Baxter not providing drugs in
exchange for sex, and that Victim 1's testimony was not credible because it
conflicted with what Victim 1 previously told Curtice.

"The right to offer the testimony of witnesses . . . is in plain terms the right to
present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as
the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies." Washington v.
Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967). This Sixth Amendment right "guarantee[s] that a
criminal charge may be answered through the calling and interrogation of
favorable witnesses . . . ." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 402
(1986). Accordingly, a defendant has a fundamental constitutional right to offer
relevant witness testimony. Washington, 388 U.S. at 23.

""Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of
any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or
less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE (emphases
added); accord Lyles, 379 S.C. at 337, 665 S.E.2d at 206. Thus, any "[e]vidence
which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant." See Lyles, 379
S.C. at 337, 665 S.E.2d at 206 (quoting Schmidt, 288 S.C. at 303, 342 S.E.2d at
403 (internal quotations omitted)).

The trial judge's decision regarding such a relevancy determination should not be
overturned, absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 35, 538
S.E.2d 248, 256 (2000). An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a
factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Lyles, 379 S.C. at 334, 665
S.E.2d at 204. Additionally, an "error without prejudice does not warrant
reversal." State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005);
accord State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (finding an
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abuse of discretion relating to the admission of evidence is not reversible absent
accompanying probable prejudice); Lyles, 379 S.C. at 334, 665 S.E.2d at 204.

In light of the aforementioned authorities, we hold the trial judge abused his
discretion in finding Curtice's proffered testimony was not relevant and, as a result
of this finding, Appellant was prejudiced.

In the weeks following the alleged assaults, Marshall Curtice left several voicemail
messages for Victim 1. In every message, Curtice adamantly maintained that he
did not damage the car of Victim 1; apparently, Victim 1 was of the belief that
Curtice damaged it, and she had been threatening to call the police if Curtice did
not remedy the matter. The eighth voicemail is particularly salient to the instant
matter:

[Victim 1], you have no right to call the law on me for
something [ haven't done. I didn't touch your car — didn't
touch you—some [inaudible] got spilled [inaudible]. But
you have no right to make up this sh[**] to try to get me
in trouble. So in recourse, I go back and tell the police
what you told me the last three weeks about your case —
and I mean that’s the word on the street anyway — that
you guys invited them in to smoke crack, smoke crack,
trade sex all night and then got mad at y'all selves in the
morning. So if something comes from this, I will contact
the defense attorneys, and the solicitor, and public
defender offices, and tell my story. And that will put a
lot of doubt in a lot of people's minds. You know, and
that's going by what you told me. Tl tell the truth.
You're making up sh[**]. I didn't touch you; I didn't
touch your car. So if you're gonna cause me trouble for
something I didn't do, I'm gonna cause you trouble for
something you did do.

(emphases added).
Although Curtice later recanted this message, claiming that he was engaged in an
argument with Victim 1 at the time he left the message, that the message was made

in "spite," that the message was a "complete fabrication" he pulled out of the air,
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and that any similarity the message bore to Appellant's version of events was
merely a "lucky guess," Appellant sought to call Curtice as a witness to testify
about what Curtice claimed Victim 1 disclosed to him in the weeks following the
incident. Notably, Victim 1 testified that she did not talk to Curtice about the
alleged assaults. Despite Appellant's contentions that Curtice's testimony would
directly support Appellant's account that the allegations of the Victims were in
retaliation for not providing drugs in exchange for consensual sex, and would serve
to diminish the credibility of Victim 1, the trial judge found there was "not a
scintilla of relevancy in Mr. Curtice's testimony," and did not allow Curtice to
testify. By not allowing Appellant to call Curtice as a witness, the trial court erred.

First, based upon the proffer, Curtice's testimony was relevant to whether
Appellant's encounter with Victim 1 and Victim 2 involved consensual sex, a
contention consistently maintained by Appellant and directly supported by
Curtice's voicemail message. Although Curtice ultimately testified that the
voicemail was a pure fabrication and that his subsequent statement was truthful,
such inconsistent positions do not render his testimony without relevance.
Testimony about whether Victim 1 told Curtice she engaged in sexual acts in
exchange for drugs would certainly assist the jury in arriving at the truth of the
issue because, if the jury determined Curtice was telling the truth in his voicemail,
which was a determination exclusively within the jury's province, then Curtice's
testimony undoubtedly would have tended to make a determination that Appellant
engaged in consensual sex with the Victims more probable. See Lyles, 379 S.C. at
337, 665 S.E.2d at 206 (stating evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth
of an issue is relevant); Rule 401 SCRE, ("'Relevant evidence' means evidence
having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the
determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be
without the evidence." (emphases added)); see also State v. McKerley, 397 S.C.
461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012) ("The assessment of witness
credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury." (emphasis added)). Thus,
based upon the proffer, the evidence was relevant and the trial judge erred by not
allowing Appellant to call Curtice as a witness.

Second, based upon the proffer, Curtice's testimony was also relevant to the
credibility of Victim 1, because the testimony of Victim 1 conflicts with what she
allegedly told Curtice. Victim 1 specifically testified that she "never really talked"
to Curtice or "told him any details" about the alleged assaults. Victim 1 also
answered, "Yes," when asked if it was correct to presume that any knowledge
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Curtice had about what happened must have arisen from what somebody else told
him. Additionally, Victim 1 testified that she did not have sex with the men in
exchange for drugs and that she did not allege rape in response to the men reneging
on a promise to provide drugs in exchange for sex. In contrast to these claims,
Curtice stated in the voicemail that he had knowledge of the incident due to "what
[Victim 1] told him the last three weeks about [her] case," i.e., that the Victims
invited Appellant and Baxter in to "smoke crack, trade sex all night" and that the
Victims claimed rape when they "got mad at [them]selves in the morning."
Accordingly, Curtice's testimony would have assisted the jury in determining the
credibility of Victim 1. See Lyles, 379 S.C. at 337, 665 S.E.2d at 206 (stating
evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant); Rule
401, SCRE ("Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the
existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more
probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." (emphases
added)).

Furthermore, we note that the trial court likely conflated relevancy with either
credibility or admissibility pursuant to other evidentiary rules. Specifically, it
appears the trial court deduced Curtice's proffered testimony necessarily lacked
relevance because Curtice recanted his statements made within the voicemail
message and claimed the voicemail was a complete fabrication and, therefore,
Curtice purportedly had no personal knowledge of the incident. Accordingly, the
trial judge essentially determined that Curtice's later claim (statement and
testimony) was truthful and that his earlier, contradictory statements in the
voicemail message were untruthful. Thus, the trial judge ostensibly made a
credibility determination, which was within the exclusive province of the jury, and,
consequently, impermissibly precluded the jury from considering evidence that
would have "assist[ed] [the] jury at arriving at the truth." See Lyles, 379 S.C. at
337, 665 S.E.2d at 206 ("Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an
issue is relevant." (citation and quotation marks omitted)); McKerley, 397 S.C. at
464, 725 S.E.2d at 141 ("The assessment of witness credibility is within the
exclusive province of the jury." (emphasis added)). Moreover, the existence of
conflicting statements by a witness does not mean he is an incompetent witness or
that his related testimony would lack relevance; rather, such a circumstance
expressly creates a question for the jury. See King, 367 S.C. at 137, 623 S.E.2d at
868 ("Courts presume a witness to be competent because bias or other defects in a
witness's testimony—revealed primarily through cross-examination—affect a
witness's credibility and may be weighed by the finder of fact."). It is for such
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reasons that considerable latitude is allowed in the cross-examination of a witness
to test the accuracy of his memory, his bias, prejudice, interest, or credibility; "a
witness may be asked questions . . . in reference to prior statements contradictory
of [his] testimony, or in reference to statements concerning relevant matter not
contradictory of testimony." State v. Jenkins, 322 S.C. 360, 364, 474 S.E.2d 812,
814 (Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis added). Because inconsistency of a witness's prior
statements does not implicate relevancy, the trial court erred in finding the proffer
of Curtice's testimony was not relevant and, as a result, not allowing Appellant to
call Curtice as a witness, even though the credibility of Curtice's testimony could
have been called into question.’

In light of our finding that Curtice's testimony was relevant, the trial court's error in
not allowing Appellant to call Curtice to present relevant witness testimony to the
jury is coupled with prejudice as a matter of law. See King, 367 S.C. at 140, 623
S.E.2d at 870 (holding, where the trial court abused its discretion in not allowing a
witness to testify, the error was "coupled with prejudice as a matter of law"); see
Washington, 388 U.S. at 23 (holding a defendant has a fundamental constitutional
right to offer relevant witness testimony); see also id. ("The right to offer the
testimony of witnesses . . . is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right
to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the
jury so it may decide where the truth lies."). Accordingly, we reverse and remand
for a new trial. See State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 591, 602 S.E.2d 392, 398 (2004)
(distinguishing "between a reversal based on insufficient evidence and one based
on errors in the trial proceedings"); id. (finding the Double Jeopardy Clause does
not preclude retrial when a conviction is set aside because of an error in the trial
proceedings).

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE and REMAND for a new trial.

HUFF and LOCKEMY, JJ. concur.

7 We acknowledge that subsequent rulings may have been necessary to determine
whether any specific testimony elicited at trial would have been admissible
pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and applicable caselaw.
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